**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Spartanburg County  
G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**  
DEC 17 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WENDELL BERNARD WILKINS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002276

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

\_\_\_\_\_  
LANELLE CANTEY DURANT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in admitting the second security video (State's Exhibit 14)<sup>1</sup> from the Fast Fuel No. 8 convenience store which was a spliced version of the raw footage which the state prepared following a first mistrial when only the raw video tape was admitted; and the state's action was prejudicial to Appellant Wilkins because the state changed the evidence?
2. Did the trial court err in admitting the original raw footage security video (State's Exhibit 16) from the Fast Fuel No. 8 convenience store because Camera 15 of the 16 cameras was missing, and the video was confusing as it showed the attempted robber in different places at the same time on different cameras?

---

<sup>1</sup> The following Exhibits are on file with this Court: State's Exhibits 1-13(photographs); State's Exhibit 14 (spliced video CD); and State's Exhibit 16 (raw footage video CD).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 4, 2013, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Wendell Wilkins on the charge of attempted armed robbery. On October 13-14, 2014, Wilkins proceeded to trial before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper and a jury.<sup>2</sup> Wilkins was represented by Robert B. Hall, and the state was represented by Samuel R. Bass, II, and Danny N. Fulmer. R. 1. The jury returned a verdict of guilty as indicted. Judge Cooper sentenced Wilkins to twelve years active service. R. 174, ll. 19 – 24. Wilkins' attorney filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

---

<sup>2</sup> The first trial was held April 15, 2014 before the Honorable Doyet Early but ended in a mistrial. R. 33, ll. 7 – 14; R. 171, ll. 19 – R. 172, ll. 6.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 4, 2013, there was an attempted armed robbery at the convenience store, Fast Fuel No. 8 on Cannons Campground Road. R. 42, ll. 6 – 16. Salvador Arias Bonifacio was working as the store clerk that day. About five o'clock on this rainy afternoon, a man wearing a hoodie and mask came in with a gun. He asked for money. When he did not get it, he fired a shot into the cigarette case. However, Salvador believed the man was not shooting at him and just wanted to scare him. Salvador resisted and the two men fought. Salvador pulled off the man's hoodie and mask. The bullet clip came out of the gun and the man hit Salvador in the head with the gun. R. 45, ll. 7 – R. 48, ll. 6.

The man ran out of the store and Salvador followed him. He saw the man get into a car and turn into a neighborhood which was a U circle. When Salvador ran to the other road to confront the car, he saw only one person in the car—a woman. He did get the license tag number. He called 911 and provided this tag number. Salvador could not identify Wilkins as the robber as he did not get a good look at the man during the fight although he pulled the hoodie and mask from the man. R. 49, ll. 1 – R. 55, ll. 16.

The store had a security surveillance system which Salvador had viewed. He described it as a fair and accurate depiction of the incident. Even after viewing the video which was state's Exhibit 16, he still could not identify Wilkins as the robber. He could only say it was a black male. R. 48, ll. 7 – R. 52, ll. 1 – 25.

When the police ran the car tag, it was registered to Enterprise Rent-A-Car. When Sergeant Matt Hutchins called the law enforcement line for Enterprise, he learned that the car had been rented to Trishaunda Rookard. The police found the car in the parking lot of the Enterprise Rent-a-Car on the Asheville Highway. R. 71, ll. 2 – R. 72, ll. 25.

Later, Sergeant Hutchins talked to Trishaunda Rookard and took a statement from her. She consented to a search of the home. She had a cell phone belonging to Wilkins and gave this to law enforcement. Sergeant Hutchins obtained a search warrant for the phone and a forensic exam was completed on the phone. R. 73, ll. 1 – R. 76, ll. 12.

Investigator William Gary's primary job with this investigation was to retrieve the video data from the computer for the Fast Fuel's surveillance system. The system was a "Geovision" system which meant that he had to meet with the store owner to obtain the data. Sergeant Gary recorded the data from the system to a flash drive and then transferred it to a CD to place into evidence. This CD was marked as State's Exhibit 16. Nothing had been done to alter this footage. R. 58, ll. 5 – R. 60, ll. 17.

In a pretrial motion, defense counsel moved to suppress the raw footage video and a second video that the state produced from the raw footage of State's Exhibit 16 by splicing different views together. This second video was created after the first trial which ended in a mistrial. This second video was confusing. There appeared to be something wrong with the raw footage video as it showed the attempted robber at one place on one camera and at the same instant he was 10 to 15 feet away at the door on a different camera. Counsel did not know if it were accidental or intentional. Also there were sixteen cameras listed but camera fifteen was missing. R. 6, ll. 1 – R. 17, ll. 18.

The solicitor argued that there were two issues. One was the raw footage security video that was simply copied directly from the store's security system, and the second issue was the second DVD which was a spliced version. R. 16, ll. 1 – 25.

The trial judge asked for the officer who obtained the videos to testify in the pretrial hearing. Sergeant William Gary testified that he copied the security video from the store

onto a 'thumb' drive and transferred to a CD to place into evidence. He did not alter this original. He did make the second video by choosing different parts from each camera and put those together in "somewhat of a sequence" that did overlap "a little bit" to make it easier to view on one screen instead of having to switch from camera to camera. R. 17, ll. 23 – R. 19, ll. 8.

On the raw footage, Sergeant Gary explained that there appeared to be a "glitch" in the security software which creates a lagging effect as some of the cameras were moving at different speeds. It was an anomaly in the software that caused a person to appear to be in two different places at the same time which physically was not possible. R. 19, ll. 9 – R. 20, ll. 25. When he was before the jury, defense counsel asked him about camera 15. The sergeant answered that he may not have selected it because it may have been an office view with no activity on it. Or he may have deselected it to save disk space. He did not remember what all the views were. R. 64, ll. 19 – R. 65, ll. 24.

On cross examination, Sergeant Gary explained that on the spliced video, he exported the segments when the attempted robber appeared. The sequences were not necessarily in order because there was an overlap in time and some of the cameras backed up in time. R. 21, ll. 1 – R. 32, ll. 19.

The judge questioned the sergeant's credentials for making the videos for forensic purposes as the sergeant had never testified to this before. He had made forensic videos for the sheriff's office. R. 32, ll. 20 – R. 35, ll. 12.

The state argued that when the case was tried before, only the raw footage security video was admitted. The previous trial judge, Judge Early, expressed dissatisfaction with the raw footage. That was the reason the state made the second spliced video to make it easy for

the jury to view “the footage that shoed the actual motion of the perpetrator inside the store.”  
R. 33, ll. 7 – 14.

Defense counsel again moved to exclude the video including both disks or versions. The judge denied the motion. R. 35, ll. 11 – R. 36, ll. 12. The judge said at the beginning of the hearing:

Here’s the thing: if it’s authentic and it shows what it shows, I have to let it in. If it’s apparently been tampered with now and I understand redaction and splicing and that sorta thing, but if it’s been tampered with so as to unduly prejudice this defendant, then I have to leave, I have to exclude it.....

R. 15, ll. 14 – 21.

In his testimony before the jury, Sergeant Gary explained how he copied the original raw footage onto a CD. When this raw footage video, State’s Exhibit 16, was admitted and published to the jury, defense counsel renewed his prior objection. The judge admitted the video “subject to defendant’s prior objection which was overruled.” R. 58, ll. 5 – R. 60, ll. 24.

Sergeant Gary then explained to the jury how he made the spliced video, State’s Exhibit 14. When it was admitted into evidence and published to the jury, defense counsel again renewed his prior objection. The judge admitted this second video “over the defendant’s prior objection.” R. 61, ll. 3 – R. 63, ll. 13.

During the trial, Trishaunda Rookard (Bennett) testified for the state that in April 2013, she was in a romantic relationship with Wilkins. He was the father of her child. R. 82, ll. 12 – R. 84, ll. 2. She had rented a car from Enterprise because her car had been damaged and was being repaired. On the day of the incident, she had gone with her mother to MUSC.

She left the car in the parking lot for her brother to return to Enterprise. She left the keys in the car. Wilkins called to borrow the car which she allowed. R. 84, ll. 3 – R. 85, ll. 25.

When she viewed the security video, she was not “absolutely positive” that the perpetrator was Wilkins as the video just looked similar to him. The solicitor then showed her State’s Exhibit 14 which was the sliced version of the video. She said it was not the best footage but it could be Wilkins if he were “pictured with a bald head.” Maybe it looked like him with a bald head. They had purchased a hoodie together at Wal-Mart. R. 86, ll. 1 – 130, ll. 13.

On cross-examination, Trishaunda said that Wilkins did not have a bald head during that time. The person on the security video looked bald-headed to her. R. 88, ll. 15 – R. 91, ll. 16.

Rachel Wells testified for the state that she dated Wilkins in April 2013. They had a sexual relationship. She thought theirs was an exclusive relationship as she was not involved with anyone else. She found out that he was seeing other people including a girl named Brittany. She admitted that she was a little bit in love with him at the time but she did not want to talk to him anymore. She said the attempted robber on the security video was Wilkins. She could tell by the structure of his face. She admitted, after viewing photos of Wilkins taken from his cell phone, that Wilkins had hair during the time of the incident. R. 93, ll. 3 - R. 102, ll. 9; R. 77, ll. 1 – R. 78, ll. 18.

Amanda Webb, he forensic DNA analyst at SLED, testified concerning DNA taken from the orange mask the perpetrator had. She obtained DNA samples from Wilkins and Salvador, the store clerk. She then compared these with cuttings from the mask. The blood

on the mask was a certain match to the clerk, Salvador, with a probability of one in six quadrillion. R. 116, ll. 13 – 25; R. 118, ll. 9 – R. 120, ll. 16.

She then did a general swab of the mask and found DNA from at least four people on the mask. Wilkins could not be excluded as a contributor meaning his DNA was present. However, the probability of that finding was one in forty-two. R. 120, ll. 22 – R. 121, ll. 21.

In his closing argument, the solicitor argued:

And, finally, what I think is the most damning and the strongest evidence in the case is the security video itself.

R. 140, ll. 13 – 15.

During jury deliberations, the jury sent a note asking to view the video “up close.” All agreed to this. R. 160, ll. 1 – R. 161, ll. 10; Court’s Exhibit One.

Following the verdict, defense counsel moved for a new trial. He reported that the jury did not get to view the security video again due to technical problems. The judge denied the motion. R. 167, ll. 15- R. 169, ll. 14.

During his mitigation presentation, defense counsel argued that this was a close case. He pointed out that at the first trial; there were eight jurors voting not guilty and one juror not voting. R. 171, ll. 19 – R. 172, ll. 11.

## ARGUMENT

### I

The trial court erred in admitting the second security video (State's Exhibit 14) from the Fast Fuel No. 8 convenience store which was a spliced version of the raw footage which the state prepared following a first mistrial when only the raw video tape was admitted, and the state's action was prejudicial to Appellant Wilkins because the state changed the evidence.

The admission of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 631 S.E.2d 262 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. Id.

Rule 403, SCRE, provides that relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

In Washington v. State, 406 Md. 642, 961 A.2d 1110 (Ct. App. Maryland 2008), the Court of Appeals granted cert from the Court of Special Appeals which had found that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the videotape from the bar where the shooting occurred but that the error was harmless. The Court of Appeals reversed the Court of Special Appeals and remanded for a new trial finding that the error was not harmless. There was a shooting at a local bar but the victim would not identify the shooter. The surveillance video was needed for identification of the shooter who was determined to be Washington who was convicted of first degree assault. The Court of Appeals found that the surveillance video was not properly authenticated as it contained compiled images from the bar's eight security cameras. They were transferred to a CD by an

unknown person. There was no evidence as to the process used, the manner of operation of the cameras, reliability or authenticity of images, or chain of custody.

The Court held that the error was not harmless because the state relied heavily on the video for identification of shooter, and the prosecutor underscored the significance of the videotapes during his opening and closing arguments. The Court wrote:

Photographic manipulation, alterations, and fabrications are nothing new, nor are such changes unique to digital imaging, although it might be easier in this digital age. As noted by Professor Lynn McLain, “movies and tapes are easily manipulated, through such means as editing and changes of speed, to produce a **misleading** [emphasis added] effect.” 5 LYNN MCLAIN, MARYLAND EVIDENCE Section 403.6 at 592 (2001).

The jury in Washington's case asked to view the video which was allowed. At trial, the victim identified Washington as the shooter because he had known Washington for three years.

The only difference between Washington's case and Wilkins is that the person who transferred the images was known. However, the clerk of the Fast Fuel did not know anything about the security system and how it operated. He said that the owner, Mr. Patel, was the one who knew. R. 54, ll. 1 – 12. Mr. Patel did not testify. R. 1-3. Sergeant Gary had to contact Mr. Patel to get access to the system. R. 66, ll. 5 – 18.

The trial court abused his discretion in admitting this spliced video, State's Exhibit 14, into evidence. It lacked reliability, was confusing, and was prejudicial to Wilkins. The first trial ended in a mistrial with eight jurors who voted not guilty. Only the raw footage video was shown. State's Exhibit 16. The state then changed the evidence hoping to make it easier for the jury to convict which they did. There was nothing in the record to indicate that any other evidence was different from the first trial. The clerk, Salvador, could not identify

Wilkins as the perpetrator even after being close to him during the altercation and pulling his hoodie and mask off. The DNA was miniscule and there were no identifiable prints. R. 108, ll.1- R. 110, ll.19; R. 121, ll. 1-21; R. 130 ll. 1-25.

Trishaunda Rookard, the mother of Wilkins' child, could not say for sure that it was him. Rachel Wells, who was in love with Wilkins initially, had reason to want to lie against Wilkins as he had done her wrong, seeing other women when she thought the relationship was exclusive. But both said Wilkins was not bald during that time and the perpetrator on the video appeared bald.

The jury was not sure about the identity of Wilkins as they requested to view the video up close indicating doubt. The solicitor argued in his closing argument that the video was the most "damning" piece of evidence. Sergeant Gary gave no testimony that he discussed with Mr. Patel, the owner of the store and one who knew about the security system, anything about the how the system worked other than retrieving the data from it.

Sergeant Gary said the sequences from the cameras were not in order. The views overlapped at times. Sergeant Gary made the decision on his own on which views from the cameras to select. There was no testimony that he consulted with anyone concerning what views or segments to take from each camera. He decided on his own not to retrieve camera 15.

Admitting this spliced video was prejudicial to Wilkins. The evidence against him was not overwhelming, and without this spliced video, there was a reasonable probability that the jury would have found him not guilty. The overwhelming majority of the first jury found him not guilty without this spliced video. State's Exhibit 14.

## ARGUMENT

### II

The trial court erred in admitting the original raw footage security video (State's Exhibit 16) from the Fast Fuel No. 8 convenience store because Camera 15 of the 16 cameras was missing, and the video was confusing as it showed the attempted robber in different places at the same time on different cameras.

The admission of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 631 S.E.2d 262 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. Id.

Rule 403, SCRE, provides that relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

In State v. King, 334 S.C.504, 514 S.E.2d 578 (1999), the Supreme Court reversed because the evidence of "other bad acts" was more prejudicial than probative because it showed the defendant's propensity to commit crimes. The solicitor in that case stressed this evidence in his closing argument to the jury. In finding reversible error, the Court noted that the evidence against King was basically circumstantial.

In Wilkins' case, the evidence was not overwhelming as the clerk could not identify him as the attempted robber, and the DNA evidence was weak. The raw footage video was the main evidence against him and it was confusing and unclear.

In State v. James, 355 S.C. 25, 583 S.E.2d 745 (2003), the Supreme Court ruled that the trial court erred in admitting seven prior burglary convictions of the defendant in his trial for burglary first degree. The Court found this prejudicial pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, because the burglary statute for first degree only required two prior burglary convictions for first degree burglary. Therefore, the probative value of all seven prior burglary convictions was outweighed by the “very great potential for prejudice to the defendant regardless of the trial court’s limiting instruction.” This sound principle of law applies here as well.

This raw footage video was confusing and misleading to the jury. Sergeant Gary testified that there was a “glitch” in the software for this video. It made a person appear to be in two different places at the same time. Sergeant Gary was not sure what happened to camera 15 but assumed he just left it out due to space or maybe there was nothing on it. The fact that it was a confusing video was shown by the state making a spliced video from it in an effort to make it more presentable. But the spliced version was still confusing.

According to the state, Judge Early at the first trial thought the raw footage video was very poor. R. 33, ll. 7-14. At this trial which ended in the mistrial, eight jurors voted not guilty for Wilkins.

The jury in the second trial had problems with the video as they asked to see it up close. The record did not state which video the jury referred to so it is assumed they meant both since the record just said “video.” R. 160, ll. 1 – R. 161, ll. 10. However, the note had the word “edited” next to the question. Court’s Exhibit One. The jury was unable to see the video due to technical problems. R. 167, ll. 15 – R. 169, ll. 14.

The state did not call the owner of the Fast Fuel, Mr. Patel, to testify about the security although he was the only one who knew how the system operated. There was no reliable foundation for this raw footage video.

It was prejudicial to Wilkins especially when the solicitor argued in his closing to the jury that the video was the most "damning" piece of evidence.