ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002276

RECEIVED

JAN 06 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

WENDALL BERNARD WILKINS,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE  
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street  
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29306  
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court did not abuse its broad discretion by admitting the raw original surveillance footage or the chronological video of the surveillance footage from the Fast Fuel No. 8 store during the attempted armed robbery, where the video footage was either not materially altered or entirely unaltered, was relevant, and was not unduly prejudicial. Furthermore, any error was harmless and had no impact on Appellant's case.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in admitting the raw original surveillance footage and the chronological video of the surveillance footage from the Fast Fuel No. 8 store during the attempted armed robbery. In support of this, Appellant maintains State's Exhibit No. 14 was not prepared until after Appellant's first trial ended in a mistrial and "the State changed the evidence." However, Appellant fails to state how State's Exhibit No. 14 was materially altered. Appellant also asserts State's Exhibit No. 16 should not have been admitted because footage from camera 15 was not included and the video was confusing. Furthermore, Appellant appears to argue the trial court should not have admitted either video based on authenticity concerns, arguing Bonifacio "did not know anything about the security system and how it operated" and the store owner who knew about the system failed to testify. In support of these arguments, Appellant cites to cases where the Supreme Court found the admission of prior bad acts or prior convictions were unduly prejudicial.

Contrary to Appellant's contentions, the videos were either materially unaltered or entirely unaltered, were highly probative of the identity of the perpetrator of the attempted armed robbery, and the resulting probative value of the videos outweighed any potential prejudicial effect that could have resulted from them. Moreover, Appellant expressly conceded the video footage's authenticity below. (R. 7). As a result, the trial

court did not abuse its broad discretion in admitting either video. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Trial courts are entitled to great deference when ruling on evidentiary matters, and a trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence will not be reversed on appeal absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Groome, 274 S.C.189, 190-191, 262 S.E.2d 31, 32 (1980). Moreover, trial courts have "particularly wide discretion" in ruling on the comparative probative value and potential prejudicial effect of evidence. State v. Collins, 398 S.C. 197, 209, 727 S.E.2d 751, 757 (Ct. App. 2012). A trial court's ruling on such a matter should be afforded great deference on appeal and should only be reversed in exceptional circumstances. State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 339-340, 665 S.E.2d 201, 207 (Ct. App. 2008). Importantly, "[a] trial judge's balancing decision under Rule 403 should not be reversed simply because an appellate court believes it would have decided the matter otherwise because of a differing view of the highly subjective factors of the probative value or the prejudice presented by the evidence." State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 593-594 (Ct. App. 2001) overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). "If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal." Id. at 358, 543 S.E.2d at 594.

### **ANALYSIS**

Pursuant to South Carolina's rules of evidence, evidence must be excluded from trial if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009); see Rule 403, SCRE ("Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially

outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.”). The determination of the probative value of evidence relative to its potential prejudicial effect must be based on the entire record and the result generally hinges on the facts of each particular case. State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 609, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007).

Probative value is the measure of the importance of a piece of evidence’s tendency to prove or disprove some fact or issue relevant to the outcome of a case. Collins, 398 S.C. at 202, 727 S.E.2d at 754. Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis. State v. Dickerson, 341 S.C. 391, 400, 535 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2000). Significantly though, unfair prejudice does **not** mean damage to a defendant’s case that results from the legitimate probative force of a piece of evidence. State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998). That is true because all evidence introduced by the State in a criminal trial is meant to be prejudicial to the defendant. Id. It is only unfair prejudice that must be avoided. Id.

In the present case, the trial court committed no error in admitting the chronologically-compiled video (State’s Exhibit No. 14), as the video footage was not materially altered. Investigator William Gary testified he created State’s Exhibit No. 14 from the raw video footage to allow the viewer (in this case, the jury) to observe the attempted armed robbery in one continuous video rather than looking at fifteen different screens at once with the perpetrator moving between the various screens as motion was detected. (R. 62-63). When asked if he had altered or amended any of the images from the raw footage, he replied:

No, not at all. I didn't, again, I didn't zoom in, I didn't do anything with the color or the brightness, the con -- the contrast, anything like that and when it exports it, uh, I told it to put the time and date on the bottom left corner where you'll see when it switches from camera to camera the time might back up a few seconds because some of it's a little bit of an overlap in going from camera to camera but that's the only difference really between the two is that it's this one continuous video file, uh, with a little bit of overlap in time for different cameras on.

(R. 62-63). Therefore, Appellant's argument that "the State changed the evidence" is wholly without merit, as the video footage was not materially altered in any way.

Similarly, the trial court properly admitted State's Exhibit No. 16 as the video footage was entirely unaltered. Investigator Gary testified he recovered the raw surveillance footage from the GeoVision computer system that records the footage and he burned the footage onto a UBS drive. (R. 59). He testified he then put all of the raw footage onto a recordable disc, which he then logged into evidence. (R. 59). He testified he did not alter or amend any of the footage. (R. 59-60). When questioned as to why there were images from cameras 1-14 and camera 16, but not camera 15, Gary testified he was unsure if there was not a camera 15 or if he had not recovered the data from camera 15 because it was a video that did not capture the attempted armed robbery, such as an office view. (R. 64-65). Bonifacio testified similarly that he was unsure if the store was equipped with fifteen or sixteen cameras. (R. 53-54). Bonifacio also testified the video was unaltered and an accurate description of what happened that day. (R. 49-50).

Gary testified the cameras are motion sensitive, causing a slight delay when the motion switches from camera to camera. (R. 61-63). He testified this can give a false appearance that the perpetrator is in two places at the same time for a few seconds. (R. 61-62). Gary created State's Exhibit No. 14 to alleviate this problem. (R. 61-63). Both the

raw original surveillance footage (State's Exhibit No. 16) and the chronologically-compiled video (State's Exhibit No. 14) were played for the jury.

Regarding the comparative probative value and potential prejudice effect of the evidence, the probative value of both videos far outweighed any potential for undue prejudice that could have resulted from their admission. Critically, the videos were highly probative of the critical issue in dispute (the identity of the perpetrator) and was extremely important to the jury's determination if Appellant was the perpetrator. Both Trishaunda (Rookard) Bennett and Rachel Wells identified Appellant as the perpetrator, either during trial or previously to law enforcement, based on the surveillance footage. These videos were particular important in establishing Appellant was, in fact, the person depicted in the surveillance footage. Furthermore, neither video was unduly prejudicial because any resulting prejudice stemmed from the legitimate probative force of the evidence in establishing Appellant's guilt for the indicted offense. See Mitchell, 399 S.C. at 420, 731 S.E.2d at 895 ("We also find the probative value of his testimony was not outweighed by the prejudicial effect based upon Mitchell's argument that Lt. McClurkin was a police officer."); see also Gilchrist, 329 S.C. at 630, 496 S.E.2d at 429 ("The prejudice Gilchrist seeks to escape is the prejudicial impact any criminal defendant faces when the State produces relevant evidence that implicates guilt of a crime charged. Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis." (citations and internal quotations omitted)). As a result, the probative value of the introduction of State's Exhibit No. 14 greatly outweighed any potential prejudicial effect. See Dickerson, 341 S.C. at 400, 535 S.E.2d

at 123 (“Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis.”).

Furthermore, Appellant’s contentions that the videos should not have been admitted based on authenticity grounds are without merit. Appellant expressly waived this argument when he conceded it below. See State v. O’Neal, 210 S.C. 305, 312, 42 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1947) (recognizing a previously-raised objection can be waived). During his motion to suppress the videos, the trial court explicitly asked Appellant if he was challenging the authenticity of the video footage, to which Appellant replied that there was “no doubt” that the video footage came from “surveillance of . . . multiple cameras at the store” and he was “satisfied” with the video’s authenticity. (R. 7). Therefore, Appellant’s reliance on Washington v. State, 406 Md. 642, 961 A.2d 1110 (Md. 2008) is unpersuasive and misguided as this argument was waived below. Therefore, Appellant’s appellate claims to the contrary are not preserved. Additionally, the videos were properly authenticated by Bonifacio, who testified that the surveillance footage was an accurate depiction of what happened during that day. (R. 49-50). See Rule 901, SCRE (videotape may be authenticated by testimony of a witness with knowledge that the matter is what is claimed to be).

Appellant’s reliance on State v. King, 334 S.C. 504, 514 S.E.2d 578 (1999) and State v. James, 355 S.C. 25, 583 S.E.2d 745 (2003) are misplaced, as neither case is analogous to the present case. In King, the Supreme Court held the admission of “other bad acts” testimony concerning thefts under a res gestae theory was reversible error because the thefts were too remote in time. In James, the Supreme Court held the probative value of all seven of defendant’s prior burglary convictions was outweighed by the very great potential for prejudice to defendant, regardless of trial judge’s limiting

instructions, and thus, trial court erred in admitting evidence of all seven of defendant's prior burglary convictions. In the present case, the State did not introduce, nor did it seek to introduce, and testimony or other evidence of Appellant's prior convictions or bad character. Furthermore, there is no logically way the raw surveillance footage of the attempted armed robbery can be construed as prior bad acts. Neither King nor James is relevant or controlling in Appellant's case.

Because the introduction of both videos satisfied all the requirements of South Carolina's evidentiary rules, the trial court did not abuse his broad discretion in admitting the videos. See State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995) ("A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice."); Lyles, 379 S.C. at 339-340, 665 S.E.2d at 207 (recognizing that a trial judge's ruling on the comparative probative value and potential prejudicial effect of evidence should be afforded great deference on appeal and should only be reversed in exceptional circumstances).

#### **HARMLESS ERROR**

Moreover, even assuming that the trial court somehow erred in admitting the videos, any error was entirely harmless in light of the fact that it was cumulative to other testimony and evidence establishing Appellant as the perpetrator. See State v. McFarlane, 279 S.C. 327, 330, 306 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1983) ("It is well settled that the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence."); see also State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991) ("[An appellate court] will not set aside a conviction due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result."). After an error is found, the appellate court must then review the other evidence considered at trial besides the erroneously admitted evidence. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C.

41, 55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006). Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). An admission of improper evidence is considered harmless when it is merely cumulative to other properly admitted evidence. State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978). The harmlessness of an error in the admission of evidence generally depends on the materiality of the evidence in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003). “When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989).

Here, any error in the admission of the videos was harmless, merely cumulative to other evidence, and not prejudicial. State’s Exhibit No. 14 was cumulative to and corroborated by other evidence indicating that Appellant was the perpetrator, such as: the testimony regarding Wells’ identification of Appellant based on the raw surveillance footage (both in-court and out-of-court), Rookard’s testimony that Appellant looked similar to the perpetrator and owned the same gray striped sweatshirt the perpetrator wore, Rookard’s testimony that she allowed Appellant to borrow the vehicle used to flee the scene during the time of the attempted armed robbery, the presence of Appellant’s mail in the glovebox of the vehicle, and the evidence establishing Appellant could not be excluded as a contributor to a DNA mixture on the orange mask the perpetrator was wearing. See State v. Simmons, 308 S.C. 80, 83, 417 S.E.2d 92, 94 (1992) (“We note that, under certain circumstances, if the identification is corroborated by either circumstantial or direct evidence, then the harmless error rule might be applicable.”). Because the challenged evidence was cumulative to other properly-admitted evidence,

any error in the admission of the videos was completely harmless and could not have affected the result at trial. See State v. Singleton, 395 S.C. 6, 14-15, 716 S.E.2d 332, 336 (Ct. App. 2001) (finding harmless error in the admission of identification testimony where two co-conspirators testified against Singleton and identified him as a participant in the robbery). Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.